A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Danielle and Darren Sterling ask this court to accept review 

of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in 

Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished 

opinion in Sterling v. State of Washington, No. 85448-8-1, (Wash. 

Ct. App. April 15, 2023), which affirmed the trial court's dismissal 

on motion for summary judgment. This ruling terminated review. 

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-

6. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Should this Court accept review to determine whether the 
Sterling decision follows Division II and Division III 
interpretations of substantial compliance under RCW 
4.92. 

2. Should this Court accept review to determine the scope of 
the State of Washington's ability to condition the exercise 
of claims against it by providing a misleading process by 
which to bring them? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a negligence case where Ms. Sterling sustained a 

stage four sacral pressure ulcer while unconscious and under the 

care ofUW. 

On January 9, 2020, Danielle Sterling, a 40-year-old mother 

of two, was transferred from Evergreen Hospital to Harborview 

Medical Center. At the time of the transfer, she was in a medically 

induced coma and not able to communicate for herself. She 

continued to receive care while in her unconscious state until 

approximately February 24, 2020, when she awoke from her coma 

to discover a painful, rotting pressure injury on her tail bone. CP 

5 8-63. This marked the beginning of a long, painful recovery of 

wound care, debridement, reconstructive surgery and physical 

therapy. During her hospital stay she was completely reliant on her 

care team. She had no capacity to advocate for herself, to reposition 

herself, or to communicate in any way. CP 1-4, 58-63. Ms. 

Sterling's life will never be the same. Her body will never look the 

same. It will never move the same. Ms. Sterling will never again 
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have a day without scars and discomfort- a constant reminder of her 

injuries and painful recovery. Her husband, Darren spent months 

helping to care for the wounds, care for the couple's children, care 

for their home, all while working to support the family. 

On December 30, 2022, Ms. Sterling submitted a tort claim 

form by email to claims@uw.edu, as instructed by UW's website 

and the form itself which was provided on the website. CP 64-86. 

Ms. Sterling executed the correct form, with correct information, in 

the correct time frame and delivered it to the address that was listed 

on the form. On January 5, 2023, Ms. Sterling received 

correspondence regarding the claims process. This correspondence 

indicated that all communications should be directed to Intercare 

on behalf of University of Washington Harborview Medical 

Center. It further provided instructions to serve the Attorney 

General's Office in the event of a lawsuit. CP 64-86 Exhibit 1. Ms. 

Sterling then inquired where she should direct requests for missing 

medical records in an email on January 6, 2023. CP 64-86 Exhibit 

2. On January 19, 2023, Ms. Sterling received correspondence from 
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UW Claim Services assistant director, Matt Weber. The letter 

acknowledged receipt of the tort claim form and indicated an 

investigation was underway and would take 60-90 days. CP 64-86 

Exhibit 3. After receiving no offer or denial of liability or request 

for additional information the Sterling's filed suit after waiting the 

required 60 days. CP 1-4. 

Ms. Sterling found UW' s claim form on UW' s website. 

https://risk.uw.edu/claims/filing-claim 

f- ➔ C -• risk.uw.edu/daims/filing-daim 

* > Claims> FilingaClalm 

Filing a Claim 

What Is a claim? A claim is a written request for compensation based on an allegation of 

negligence. When we receive a claim we investigate and provide a decision regarding the 

University's liability. Claim services staff cannot provide advice about filing a claim. You may 

wish to seek legal assistance. This information is provided for access to the claims process, and 

does not constitute legal advice. 

If you would like to file a claim regarding a vehicle accident, please complete the uw 

Vehicle Accident Claim Form. 

If you would like to file a claim regarding an Incident other than a vehicle accident, 

please complete the uw Liability Claim Form. 

In addition to one of the above forms. please fill out the CMS Affidavit Form. 

What Is the CMS Affidavit form? If you are a Medicare beneficiary and receive a settlement 

over $750 from the UW for a claim involving medical care, we are required to report the 

settlement to the center for Medicare and Medicaid services (CMS). The CMS Affidavit form 

helps us comply with Medicare law. 

' Filing a Claim 

uw Employees 

Claim FAQs 

TO SUBMIT A CLAIM 

Due to COVlD-19 we are not regularly 

staffing the physical office. 

Please submit your form by email: 

claims@uw.edu 

Fax: 206-543-6744 (fax transmissions 

are delivered to email) 

If you must mail materials: 

University of Washington 

Claim Services 

Box 354964 

Seattle, WA 98195 

we do not accept service of process for 

lawsuits at our physical office. Please 

see statute for guidance. 

In the FAQ section of the claims website, UW identifies itself as 

largely self insured for liability exposures and that Claims Services 

manage claims and oversee the self insurance program. 
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f- ➔ C3 :. risk.uw.edu/clainv'FAQ 

1'- > Claims , Claim FAQs 

Claim FAQs 

Who should be notified in an emergency? 

Call UWPD at 911. If there has been a fatality, also call UW Environmental Health and Safety at 

543 -7388. If there is significant property damage, contact one of our Program Coordinators in 

Claim Services 

Does the University purchase insurance? 

The University is self-insured for most property (equipment and buildings), but not all. Self­

sustaining units such as University of Washington Medical Center, Harborview Medical Center. 

and others have insurance policies in place which cover some of the property and equipment. 

The University purchases insurance for its exposures pursuant to RCW 28B20.250 The 

University is largely self-insured for liability exposures. Claims are managed by Claims services· 

staff. Claim Services oversees the self insurance program. 

I've had an auto accident while driving a UWvehicle. What do I do? 

Please follow these instructions: UW Vehicle Accident Reporting. Refer anyone who contacts 

you about the accident to Claims Services. 

https://risk.uw.edu/claim/F AO 

Filing a Claim 

uw Employees 

I ClalmFAQs 

Here, UW is telling the public that they are self insured and 

that they investigate their own claims. They provide a link to a 

claim form and identify where to mail, email or fax the form m 

order to make a claim. 

Respondent goes on to say that "UW' s Claim Form expressly 

told her that notice to UW did not comply with RCW 4.92.110 and 

that she was required to file a claim with DES." Id at 3. In fact, 

the form does not say she was required to file a claim with DES. It 

says, this form "does not constitute a filing with Department of 

Enterprise Services." 
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University of Washington Claim Form 

To file a claim with UW Claim Services, complete this form and submit: 

(Preferred) OR 
By email to: claims@uw.edu By fax to: (206) 543-6744 

OR 
By mail lO: Claim Servk:es 

Box 354964 
Seattle. WA 98195 

Note: Claim Servk:es will primarily conunwlfcare by e1nall Please notify us if' you cannot access email 

In the t-.enl that the claim cannot be resol\edlnformally. filing lhJs claJmWth the li1henllyorWashJngton<k>es 
llOf. conslitule a filing Wlh the Depann�nl of Ehttrprlse Sentces pwsuanl lo RCW 4.92.110. This claJmfonn ls 
suiject to p.ihllc dsclm:ure, and may b! dsdond\\tthout redaclloo. 

tAV coolples: 'Mlh aRJlkalJe Federal chil righ15 lws and� noc dscrhrinateon dte ba.'ils or race. color, national 
c:rlgJn. age. dsalilltyor stx. lfyou ha\!! HmhedEnglbh 1roflcltncy. Pease !itt pege 4. 

It does not provide an address or instructions for submitting a form 

to DES. It only provides instructions for submitting to UW claim 

services. 

On April 15, 2024, the Washington Court of Appeals 

affirmed the trial court decision to dismiss the Sterling's claims. As 

a point of procedural correction- the Court of Appeals outlines in 

its Order, "Then, on April 3, 2023, Sterling sent the UW Claim 

form to UIM." While the Sterlings did submit a separate claims 

form to OES on April 3, 2023- it was for a different set of dates, 

alleging negligence for ongoing care. As discovery with Evergreen 

progressed, it became clear that UW was not involved in ongoing 

care and a claim for negligence in ongoing care was not supported 

by the facts. The Sterlings were not able to submit their tort claim 
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form for injuries sustained during Danielle's January to February 

stay at UW to OES as the statute of limitations had run by the time 

they knew they were supposed to do so. 

The Sterlings are now seeking discretionary review to 

reiterate their position that, if UW is going to provide a form, it 

cannot be misleading. If UW is going to provide a form that is 

misleading, they cannot then use the misleading form as a shield to 

bar legitimate claims. 

E. ARGUMENT 

I. THE DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH A 
PUBLISHED COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

A recent authority identifies the meaning of substantial 

compliance as when, "statute has been followed sufficiently as to 

carry out the intent for which the statute was adopted." Lee v. Metro 

Parks Tacoma, 183 Wn. App. 961, 968, 335 P.3d 1014 (2014). In 

this case, a claim form was timely submitted. The court in Lee 

analyzed if Plaintiff had substantially complied with the 60 day 

requirement. Ultimately they decided that the Lee Plaintiff had not 

complied- however the court analyzed the requirements by 
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identifying the time limitation as procedural and therefore subject 

to substantial compliance. Here- the Sterlings failure to submit the 

same form to a second office did not prejudice UW' s opportunity 

to investigate, evaluate, or potentially settle the claim. Ms. Sterling 

timely submitted an appropriate form to an appropriate party. A 

party who publicly holds themselves out as self insured and 

identifies themselves as the party who investigates claims against 

them. UW has shown no evidence to support a contention that 

submitting the same information to a second office has prejudiced 

their opportunity to investigate, evaluate, or potentially settle this 

claim. 

This decision is also in conflict with Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 

Wash. 2d 16, 2002 in which the court says that statutes are 

constructed in a manner that avoids unlikely, absurd or strained 

consequences. 

II. THE DECISION INVOLVES A 
SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW 

What is meant by substantial compliance and which elements 

it applies to in RCW 4.92 needs review. 
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III. THE DECISION INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST 

UW is a massive entity with significantly more resources 

than the Sterlings. UW is intimately familiar with the appropriate 

process by which to bring a claim against them for their negligence. 

Publishing a form that instructs claimants to bring a claim against 

them that is misleading then using it to dismiss valid claims- is 

unfair and not in keeping with the intent of the rules. UW is hiding 

behind a procedural hook of which they are well aware. All we are 

asking is an opportunity to put on a case on the merits. The facts, 

which are gruesome and humiliating. RCW 4.96 does not allow for 

local agencies to be misleading by providing a deliberately 

confusing form then barring claims because their form was 

misleading. While we agree with the court of appeals that UW is 

not a local agency- shouldn't they also be restricted from setting up 

a confusing and misleading process then barring claims for failure 

to comply with process they not only didn't provide but instructed 

a different process all together? This issue is ripe for review. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the Sterling's respectfully 

request that this Court accept review, allow Petitioners to file a 

supplemental brief, and ultimately allow the Sterling's their day in 

court. 

18.17. 
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FILED 
4/15/2024 

Court of Appeals 
Division I 

State of Washington 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DANIELLE STERLING and DARREN 
STERLING, wife and husband, 

Appellants, 

V. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and 
through THE UNIVERSITY OF 
WASHINGTON, d/b/a "UW Medicine," 
"UW Physicians," and "Harborview 
Medical Center," 

Res ondents. 

No. 85448-8-1 

DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

BOWMAN, J. - Danielle Sterling and her husband appeal the trial court's 

order dismissing her medical negligence lawsuit against the state of Washington, 

University of Washington (UW), UW Medicine, UW Physicians, and Harborview 

Medical Center. Sterling argues the trial court erred by dismissing her lawsuit for 

failure to file a claim with the Department of Enterprise Services (DES) Office of 

Risk Management (ORM) under chapter 4.92 RCW. We affirm. 

FACTS 

On December 26, 2019, EvergreenHealth hospital admitted Sterling with 

pancreatitis. EvergreenHealth put Sterling into a medically induced coma 

because of complications in her treatment. Her condition worsened, and on 

January 9, 2020, EvergreenHealth transferred Sterling to Harborview. On 

January 23, 2020, Sterling's providers discovered that she had developed a 
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No. 85448-8-1/2 

"sacral pressure ulcer'' on the base of her spine. On February 22, 2020, Sterling 

regained consciousness and learned about the injury. The ulcer had become 

infected and necrotic, requiring debridement, surgery, and rehabilitative therapy. 

On December 30, 2022, Sterling filed a "UW Claim Form" with UW Claim 

Services, seeking $2.5 million in damages. 1 On January 5, 2023, Harborview 

acknowledged receipt of Sterling's claim form. On January 1 9, 2023, UW Claim 

Services also acknowledged receipt of Sterling's claim form, stating that it "will 

investigate the claim and provide a written response," which "may take from 60 to 

90 days to complete." 

On February 3, 2023, 1 5  days later, Sterling sent a demand letter to UW 

Claim Services, again seeking $2.5 million to settle her claims. She informed 

UW Claim Services that she intended to "immediately proceed to litigation" if it 

did not accept the demand within 1 5  days. On March 1 ,  2023, Sterling and her