FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2024 10:38 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 103079-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DANIELLE STERLING and DARREN STERLING,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through THE UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON, d/b/a "UW Medicine", "UW Physicians" and "Harborview Medical Center",

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LARSON HEALTH ADVICATES, PLLC

By: Jane J. Liu WSBA No. 49649 Levi S. Larson WSBA No. 39225 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210 Jonathan B. Collins WSBA No. 48807

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

D. Why Review Should be Denied.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Ms. Sterling did not substantially comply with the letter or purpose of chapter 4.92 RCW. None of her arguments justifies this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). Division One's decision does not conflict with this Court's authority requiring lower courts to avoid absurd results. The decision does not conflict with a published Court of Appeals decision addressing substantial compliance under a *different* statutory scheme, RCW 4.96. And it does not present a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest. This Court's review is unwarranted.

1. The decision does not conflict with this Court's authority and does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Ms. Sterling claims Division One's decision conflicts with this Court's authority because it results in "unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences." Pet. at 8 (citing Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002)). But Division One correctly applied the statute in precisely the manner the Legislature directed. The court rejected Ms. Sterling's contention she "substantially complied" with RCW 4.92.100 and .110, recognizing that a plaintiff cannot achieve the underlying statutory purpose without-at a minimum-providing *some* notice to the office of risk management at DES in Olympia. See Slip Op. at 4-5. Ms. Sterling's argument to the contrary undermines the Legislature's intent to establish a centralized process for investigating and managing tort claims against State agencies.

The Legislature conditioned the State's waiver of its sovereign immunity on a plaintiff's compliance with RCW 4.92.100 and RCW 4.92.110. *See Hyde v. Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr.*, 186 Wn. App. 926, 929, 347 P.3d 918, *rev. denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1005 (2015); Slip Op. at 3. These statutes preclude tort claims against the State, including any of its agencies or employees, unless the plaintiff first files the standard tort claim form with the office of risk management at DES at least 60 days before commencing the action:

All claims against the state . . . for damages arising out of tortious conduct, must be presented to the office of risk management. A claim is deemed presented when the claim form is delivered . . . to the office of risk management . . . [A]ll claims for damages must be presented on the standard tort form that is maintained by the office of risk management. The standard tort claim form must be posted on the department of enterprise services' website.

RCW 4.92.100(1).

An earlier version of RCW 4.92.100 provided that "substantial compliance will be deemed satisfactory" "[w]ith respect to the *content* of such claims [under] this section." *See Levy v. State*, 91 Wn. App. 934, 941-42, 957 P.2d 1272 (1998) (emphasis added). In 2009, the Legislature amended RCW 4.92.100(3), extending the substantial compliance exception to both the content and "all procedural requirements in this section." *See* Laws of 2009, ch. 433, § 2; RCW 4.92.100(3).

A separate section of chapter 4.92 RCW requires a plaintiff to notify DES of their claim 60 days before filing their complaint:

No action subject to the claim filing requirements of RCW 4.92.100 shall be commenced . . . until sixty calendar days have elapsed after the claim is presented to the office of risk management in the department of enterprise services.

RCW 4.92.110. This section was not amended as part of the 2009 revisions to chapter 4.92 RCW.

The claim filing requirements of chapter 4.92 RCW are jurisdictional and operate as a condition precedent to any suit against the government. *Levy*, 91 Wn. App. at 941-42. A plaintiff's failure to comply with these requirements mandates dismissal, even when that result "may seem unduly harsh." *Kleyer v. Harborview Med. Ctr. of Univ. of Wash.*, 76 Wn. App. 542, 547-48, 887 P.2d 468 (1995) (quoting *Geschwind v. Flanagan*, 121 Wn.2d 833, 841, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993))²; *see also Hyde*, 186 Wn. App. at 926 ("Dismissal is the proper remedy for failure to comply with" chapter 4.92 RCW). The Court of Appeals adhered to this precedent. Slip Op. at 4-5.

It is undisputed that Ms. Sterling did not file *anything*—let alone the "standard tort claim form"

12

² When relevant, Washington courts continue to rely on authority decided before the 2009 amendment to RCW 4.92.100. *See, e.g., McDevitt v. Harbor View Med. Ctr.,* 179 Wn.2d 59, 64-68, 316 P.3d 469 (2013) (affirming constitutionality of pre-suit notification requirement under RCW 4.92.110).

required under RCW 4.92.100(1)—at the office of risk management at DES before filing her complaint, as both RCW 4.92.100 and RCW 4.92.110 require. She instead filed a UW Claim Form with UW Claims Services. Pet. at 3; Slip Op. at 1-2.

As Division One correctly recognized, the "purpose of RCW 4.92.100(1) and .110 is to provide notice of claims to the state so that [the office of risk management] can maintain a centralized claim tracking system," "provide agencies with accurate and timely data on the status of liability claims," and "delegate to the appropriate office to investigate, negotiate, compromise, and settle the claim[s], or to retain that responsibility on behalf of and with the assistance of the affected state agency." Slip Op. at 4-5 (quoting RCW 4.92.210(1)-(4)). This statutory scheme also "serves the reasonable purpose of fostering negotiation and without settlement substantially burdening tort claimants." Slip Op. at 5 (quoting *Hall by Hall v. Niemer*, 97 Wn.2d 574, 581, 649 P.2d 98 (1982)).

Moreover, while the 2009 amendment allows a plaintiff to show substantial compliance as to both the content and "procedural requirements" under RCW 4.92.100, that exception is expressly limited to that "section." RCW 4.92.100(3) (emphasis added). The Legislature did not extend substantial compliance to RCW 4.92.110, a separate section that unambiguously requires a plaintiff to present their claim to the office of risk management at DES. RCW 4.92.110; see HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297 (2009) (Courts must apply statutes according to their plain language, and the inquiry ends if "the plain language is subject to only one interpretation[.]"). While substantial compliance might forgive some procedural deficiencies, a plaintiff still must file *something* with the office of risk management at DES in Olympia to provide the bare minimum of notice.

Accordingly, Division One did not reach "an absurd result" when it held that Ms. Sterling failed to substantially comply with chapter 4.92 RCW because "[n]otifying UW Claim Services of her claim did not sufficiently carry out the legislature's intentions behind RCW 4.92.100(1) and .110"—specifically, she "did not put [the office of risk management] on notice of her claim, so it could not track, value, and delegate the claim as part of its centralized system." Slip Op. at 5; see, e.g., City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp't. Relations Comm'n, 116 Wn.2d 923, 928, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991) ("Substantial compliance has been defined as actual compliance in respect to the substance essential to every reasonable objective of a statute.") (quoted source omitted).

In holding that Ms. Sterling failed to carry out the Legislature's intent, Division One applied chapter 4.92 RCW's statutory scheme consistent with this Court's guidance; there is no conflict warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). While this Court has recognized that dismissal in these circumstances "may seem" like an "unduly harsh" result, *Geschwind*, 121 Wn.2d at 841, it is not an absurd one.

2. Cases applying chapter 4.96 RCW are inapposite and do not establish any conflict warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Ms. Sterling's wrongly contends that Division One's decision conflicts with Division Two's published decision in *Lee v. Metro Parks Tacoma*, 183 Wn. App. 961, 335 P.3d 1014 (2014). As Ms. Sterling concedes—and as Division One held—*Lee* involved RCW 4.96.020, which governs lawsuits against "local government entities," not chapter 4.92 RCW, which governs lawsuits against state agencies like UW. *See* Pet. at 9 ("[W]e agree with the court of appeals that UW is not a local agency."); Slip Op. at 6 ("[C]hapter

4.96 RCW governs the procedure for claims against local government entities . . . Harborview is not a local government entity. Rather, it is an arm of the state."); *Hontz v. State*, 105 Wn.2d 302, 310, 714 P.2d 1176 (1986) ("Because the University of Washington is a state agency, Harborview, as operated and managed by the University, is an arm of the state.").

Further, as Ms. Sterling again concedes, Pet. at 7, Division One's decision is consistent with *Lee*, where Division Two refused to find substantial compliance with the notice and 60-day waiting period required under RCW 4.96.020(4). *Lee*, 183 Wn. App. at 965. The *Lee* court affirmed dismissal of a complaint filed only 14 days after the plaintiff filed her tort claim, well before the local park district could have "completed its investigation and evaluation, decided whether to accept or reject her claim, or engaged in settlement negotiations." 183 Wn. App. at 968.

17

Lee is consistent with Division One's decision here, both of which hold that substantial compliance must be determined with an eye to "[t]he purpose of claim filing statutes . . . to 'allow government entities time to investigate, evaluate, and settle claims." *Lee*, 183 Wn. App. at 968 (*quoting Medina v. Public Util. Dist. No. 1 of Benton Cnty.*, 147 Wn.2d 303, 310, 53 P.3d 993 (2002)); *see* Slip Op. at 4-5.

Indeed, Ms. Sterling's reliance on chapter 4.96 RCW highlights the key difference between statutory claim filing requirements for local governmental entities under chapter 4.96 RCW and state agencies under chapter 4.92 RCW. Unlike local jurisdictions, which operate independently under RCW 4.96.020, the Department of Enterprise Services is responsible for managing claims against *all* state agencies. *See* RCW 4.92.100(1), .110, .210(1)-(4). In contrast, local government entities have no need for a "centralized" process beyond their own internal

18

procedures. *See* RCW 4.96.020(2) ("The governing body of *each* local governmental entity shall appoint *an agent* to receive any claims made under this chapter.") (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished between chapter 4.92 RCW and chapter 4.96 RCW. Op. at 5-6.

3. Division One's unpublished decision does not present any issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should similarly reject Ms. Sterling's argument that Division One's decision presents an issue of substantial public interest by purportedly allowing state agencies to "set[] up a confusing and misleading process." Pet. at 9. Ms. Sterling cites repeatedly to UW's discussion of its internal claims process on its website, which refers claimants to the "UW Liability Claim Form," Pet. at 9, but she ignores the plain language in the form itself: that filing a claim with the University of Washington "does not constitute a filing with the Department of Enterprise Services pursuant to RCW 4.92.110." CP 27. She provides no basis for excusing her counsel's failure to follow the instructions on the claim form itself or the plain requirements of RCW 4.92.110 on the ground that the UW has "significantly more resources than the Sterlings." Pet. at 9.

The Court of Appeals has consistently rejected plaintiffs' arguments to excuse compliance with statutory claim filing requirements on grounds that the University's claim filing process was "misleading." And this Court has consistently denied review of those decisions. *See Hardesty v. Stenchever*, 82 Wn. App. 253, 258-59, 917 P.2d 577 (affirming dismissal where the plaintiff filed a complaint at UW's office of risk management but failed to file a tort claim form with DES in Olympia), *rev. denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1005 (1996); *Jones v. Univ. of Wash.*, 62 Wn. App. 653, 662, 814 P.2d 1236 (1991) (rejecting appellant's argument that UW "misled him" by failing to inform him of his noncompliance with RCW 4.92.110), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1026 (1992); Amo v. Harborview Med. Ctr., No 79479-5-I, 2020 WL 1917461 (April 20, 2020) (holding that plaintiff's "communications with Harborview staff and administrators before she filed her complaint" did not substantially comply with statutory notice requirements and that "[t]here is not authority for the proposition that Harborview was required . . . to take affirmative steps to with ensure [plaintiff's] compliance statutory requirements for filing suit."), rev. denied, 196 Wn.2d 1010 (2020) (unpublished, cited per GR 14.1).

Ms. Sterling's contention that she substantially complied with chapter 4.92 RCW by filing the UW Claim Form with UW Claim's Services would rewrite RCW 4.92.110 altogether—eliminating the Legislature's primary goal of ensuring all potential claims against state agencies are subject to a uniform process overseen by a centralized

21

authority and instead allowing compliance whenever the plaintiff "submit[s] an appropriate form to an appropriate party," as Ms. Sterling envisions. Pet. at 8.

This Court cannot "rewrite unambiguous statutory language under the guise of interpretation." *Portugal v. Franklin Cnty.*, 1 Wn.3d 629, 652, 530 P.3d 994 (2023) (quoted source omitted), *cert. denied*, 144 S. Ct. 1343 (2024). Nor can it adopt such a broad interpretation of "substantial compliance" as to render much of the statutory scheme superfluous. *See, e.g., Jongeward v. BNSF R. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 586, 601 278 P.3d 157 (2012) ("[A] court must not interpret a statute in any way that renders any portion meaningless or superfluous.").

Ms. Sterling's failure to read the express instruction on the UW Claim Form directing her to comply with chapter 4.92 RCW does not create an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).³

E. Conclusion.

Division One correctly applied chapter 4.92 RCW in holding that Ms. Sterling's failure to provide *any* notice to the office of risk management at DES did not satisfy the statute's fundamental goal of ensuring all claims against state agencies are managed in a centralized process. Its unpublished decision does not conflict with any authority from this Court or the Court of Appeals, or present any issue of substantial public interest. The Court should deny the petition.

³ Ms. Sterling also claims—in a single sentence—that Division One's decision "involves a significant question of law," but provides no support or *any* authority that Division One's decision presents a significant question of constitutional law justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). *See Matter of Rhem*, 188 Wn.2d 321, 328, 394 P.3d 367 (2017) ("[M]ere naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion.") (internal quotation omitted).

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 3,340 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).